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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE
WESTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI
CENTRAL DIVISION

JAMES DYE, )
Plaintiff, g
V. )) Case N@.:15-cv-04021-MDH
BRIAN KINKADE, et al., ))
Defendants. g
ORDER

Before the Court is Defendts’ Motion to Dismiss Plaiiff's First Amended Complaint
(Doc. 29). Defendants argue each claim iaiRiffs Amended Complaint is subject to
dismissal because the court lacks jurisdictiondarhor should abstain from hearing, the claim
or because the allegations within Plainti@mended Complaint fail to state a claim upon which
relief can be granted. gdn careful review and congidation, the Court herel8RANTS IN
PART AND DENIES IN PART Defendants’ motion.

. BACKGROUND

Plaintiff is a licensed dentist practicing iretBtate of Missouri who initiated this lawsuit
against certain individuals employed by the Miss@epartment of SociaBervices acting in
their official and individual capacities. Plaifitalleges Defendants viokd federal and state law
by promulgating and following an “unauthoriZedental manual that allegedly disallows
coverage and reimbursement for denture-relatedces for certain adult Medicaid recipients.
Plaintiff alleges further that Defendants retathiagainst Plaintiff for speaking out against the
allegedly unlawful reimbursement policies andgaures. The allegations and claims asserted

in Plaintiffs Amended Complaint are more fully outlined below.
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A. Relevant Medicaid Background

The Supreme Court describes Medicaid agotat state-federal funding program for
medical assistance in which the Federal Gavemt approves a state plan for the funding of
medical services for the needy and then sliess a significant portion of the financial
obligations the State has agreed to assurAé&ekander v. Choatel69 U.S. 287, 290 n. 1, 105 S.
Ct. 712, 714, 83 L. Ed. 2d 661 (1985). Although aesgparticipation in the Medicaid program
is voluntary, once the state choosegarticipate, it must comphyith all federal statutory and
regulatory requirements.See id. The federal government will subsidize medical-assistance
services for a state only after the state has submitted a “plan” to the Secretary of the Department
of Health and Human Services that metiis requirements of 42 U.S.C. 1396a(a) and the
Secretary approves the plabankford v. Shermam51 F.3d 496, 504 (8th Cir. 2006). A state’s
plan mustprovide certain categorie$ medical services anaay provide optional categories of
medical servicesSee42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(10)(A). If titate chooses to provide an optional
medical service, then it mustroply with all federal statutorgnd regulatory mandates related to
that service.Lankford 451 F.3d at 504.

Dental services are considered an optional medical service under the MedicafkAct.
42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(10)(A), 1396d(a)(10). Misstars elected to providéental services to
“eligible needy persons” under itp@roved plan, so long as the dargervices are “prescribed”
and “medically necessary[.]” Mo. Rev. Stgt208.152.1. Missouri’s approved plan states that
such services are “subject to appropriatiorid.” Missouri regulation further describes the scope
of dental services covered under the plan:

(1) Administration. The MO HealthNet dental program shall be administered by

the MO HealthNet Division, Department 8bcial Services. The dental services

covered and not covered, the limitatioamsder which services are covered, and
the maximum allowable fees for all coverservices shall be determined by the



MO HealthNet Division and shall be included in the MO HealthDental
Provider Manua) which is incorpo by referencenéh made part of this rule as
published by the Department of SocBérvices, MO HealthNet Division, 615
Hower-ton Court, Jefferson @it MO 65109, at its website at
www.dss.mo.gov/mhd, November 1, 2011. Thide does not incorporate any
subsequent amendments or additions. Dental services covered by the MO
HealthNet program shall include onlyase which are clearly shown to be
medically necessary. The diwasi reserves the right tdfect changes in services,
limitations, and fees with proper notificat to MO HealthNedental providers.

(3) Participant Eligibility. . . . (C) For all other eligibility categories of MO
HealthNet assistance [other than cleldr persons receiving HealthNet under a
category of assistance for pregnant woroetthe blind, or participants living in
nursing facilities] dental services will only be reimbursed if the dental care is
related to trauma of the mouth, jaw, teethpther contiguous sites as a result of
injury or as related to a medical condition when a written referral from the
participant’s physician states the al=erof dental treatment would adversely
affect the stated pre-isting medical condition.

1. Reimbursement for dental care shalllimited to those procedure codes

identified in section (19) of th&O HealthNet Dental Provider Manual

which may be referenced at www.dss.mo.gov/mhd; and

2. Participants must have a written referral from their physician stating the

absence of dental treatment would adversely affect the stated pre-existing

medical condition. This referral must bwintained in the patient’s record

and made available to the MO HealthNet Division or its agent upon

request.
13 C.S.R. § 70-35.010.

The Dental Provider Manual (hereinafteglental manual”) published in November of

2011 and incorporated by reference into the alvegelation reiterates that dental services for
adults — except participants umde category of assistance foregnant women, the blind, or
vendor nursing facility residents — are covered onlenetthe dental care is related to traumatic
injury of the jaw, mouth, teeth, or other contigacsite above the neck or where the participant

provides a written referral frorthe participant’'s physian stating that th@bsence of dental

treatment would adversely aefft a pre-existing medical cotidh. MO HealthNet Dental



Provider Manual § 13.1 (2011). Sien (19) of the dental manubsts reimbursement codes for
services related to dentures andudes an asterisk that statggoverable for children under 21
or persons under a category of assistancepfegnant women, thelibd or vendor nursing
facility residents.” MO HealthNdDental Provider Manual 8 19.1.G(1)-(9) (2011).

The dental manual was updated onaoound July 26, 2012. The July 2012 dental
manual includes largely the same languagetas an the November 2011 dental manual except
that the July 2012 manual statthat dental servicesxcluding denturesnay be provided to
adults — except participantsader a category of assistance fsegnant women, the blind, or
vendor nursing facility residents — only in the case of traumatic injury or pre-existing medical
condition. MO HealthNet Deal Provider Manual § 13.1 (2011). The July 2012 manual
explicitly states that “[d]entures (full and ngal) are not covered ued the above noted pre-
existing medical condition or trauma criteriaMO HealthNet Dental Provider Manual 8§ 13.1
(2011). Section (19), which provides a list reingament codes, was not changed in relevant
part. SeeMO HealthNet Dental Provider Manual § 19.1.G(1)-(9) (2012). The language used in
the July 2012 manual, cited aboigincorporated into the curremersion of the dental manual.

B. Amended Complaint Allegations

Plaintiff alleges that, in 2012, the MissoWepartment of Social Services (MDSS)
published and began following a new dental mathe outlawed all formsf denture services
for Missouri adults with limited Medicaid berist Plaintiff allegesthat “[n]othing in the
November 1, 2011 dental manual excluded denttoesdults with limited Medicaid dental

benefits.” Plaintiff states &t the new dental manual “matéiyaconflicts” with federal law,

! After full briefing on Defendants’ motion to dismiss théial complaint, the Court @nted Plaintiff's unopposed
motion for leave to file an amended complaint in ligiitthe recent Supreme Coutecision handed down in
Armstrong v. Exceptional Child Ctr., Ind35 S. Ct. 1378, 191 L. Ed. 2d 471 (2015) as well as Plaintiff's desire to
assert additional grounds for relief and address issues raised in Defendants’ motion to dismiss.
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state law, and state regulationSpecifically, Plaintiff alleges #t the new dental manual is not
authorized under Missouri regulation 13 C.S&70-35.010(1); that the new dental manual
conflicts with 13 C.S.R. § 70-35.010(1) and the 26&ftal manual; that Missouri’s plan fails to
comply with 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(30)(A); thMissouri’'s plan, policies, practices, and
procedures violate 42 U.S.C.1896a(a)(43); and that Missouri’sapl fails in various respects

with regard to ESPDT services, citingp 42 U.S.C. 88 1396a(a)(10)(A), 1396a(a)(43),
1396d(a)(xiii)(4)(B),1396d(r)(3) and 42 C.F.R. § 441.56(e).

Plaintiff alleges Defendant Cindy Lenger infardnPlaintiff in early 2013 that Plaintiff
could no longer provide dame-related services to Medicaid participants. Plaintiff alleges he
responded by informing Defendants that Medigaditicipants are legallentitled to denture-
related services and that Plaintiff is entitled reimbursements for the same. According to
Plaintiff, Defendants maintained their positi@f non-coverage and non-reimbursement and
instituted an audit of Plaifti Plaintiff alleges Defendantshereafter continued to deny
Plaintiff's claims for reimburseent of denture-related sergik and Plaintiff continued to
challenge such denials. Plaintiff states tliat direct response td°laintiff's opposition to
Defendants’ position, Defendants imposed a sanatioRlaintiff requiring Plaintiff to submit to
the pre-payment review process.” According taiilff, Plaintiff submitsall denture claims to
Defendants for pre-payment review and Defenslagject every claim submitted by Plaintiff.
Plaintiff alleges further that, in 2013, Defendant Lenger referred Plaintiff to Medicaid Audit and
Compliance Unit (“MMAC") investigations, which led to an on-site review where Defendant
Lenger told Plaintiff that dentures are not codefer adults with limited benefits. Plaintiff
alleges that Defendant Lenger sent Plaintiff a letter on behalf of MMAC stating: “Effective

September 1, 2005 dentures were no longer covereatlults with limited benefits. The policy



was first published in a Missouri Medicaidopider bulletin dated July 12, 2005.” Plaintiff
alleges that the July 12, 2005 bultetioes not, in fact, state thdgntures are nlonger covered
for adults with limited benefits.Plaintiff alleges he previouslgought relief from Defendants’
allegedly unlawful conduct tbugh administrative hearings April 2014 and November 2014
and through a request for injune relief from the court.

Based on the foregoing factual allegatiofaintiff brings eight claims for relief:
(I) declaratory judgment pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2281 seq. (II) declaratory judgment
pursuant to Rule 87.02 of tiMissouri Rules of Civil Proedure and Mo. Rev. Stat. § 527.0&0,
seq; (1) Section 1983 claim for vialtion of Plaintiff's First Anendment right to free speech;
(IV) Section 1983 claim for declaratory judgmef\) equitable estoppe(VI) prima facie tort;
(VII) Section 1983 claim against Cindy Lenger in mtividual capacity for violating Plaintiff’s
constitutional and statutory rightincluding Plaintiff’s right tdree speech; (VIII) Section 1983
claim against Jessica Dresner in her individtegbacity for violating Plaintiff's constitutional
and statutory rights.

C. Prior Administrative and State Court Proceeding$

On or around July 3, 2013, Plaintiff filedpetition for temporary restraining order, and
later an amended petition for judicial review and prelanminjunction, against MDSS and
MMAC in the Circuit Court of Cole County, Miesri, challenging the constitutionality of the
agency’s imposition of the 100% prepayment revigacess on Plaintiff. Judge Beetem entered
judgment against Plaintiff on December 31, 2014, regatthat “[t]here is no constitutional right
to be able to submit claims without being subjec100% review” and “the decision to require

100% review is discretionary with Respondent[Jee generally Dye v. Mo. Dept. of Soc. Servs.

2 The Court takes judicial notice of these prior progegslin determining Defendants’ motion to dismiSe Stahl
v. U.S. Dep't of Agri¢ 327 F.3d 697, 700 (8th Cir. 2003).
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No. 13AC-CC00408 (Mo. Cir., December 31, 2014udgk Beetem noted that Plaintiff has a
right to prompt payment on clean claims, a rdynshould he not be afforded the same, and a
right to judicial review of higlenied claims. Plaintiff appealddidge Beetem'’s decision to the
Missouri Court of Appeals for the Western Distiactd Plaintiff's appeal is currently pending.

In December of 2013, Plaintiff and two othegisollectively “petitioners”) filed an
administrative complaint against MDSS and MMApealing the denial of reimbursement for
35 denture claims submitted by petitionerSee generallyJames Dye, et al. v. Dep't of Soc.
Servs., et al.No. 13-2108 (Mo. Admin. HrgComm. July 18, 2014). The threshold issue in that
case was “the extent to which dentures ar covered service under Missouri's Medicaid
program.” The Commissionerjeeted MMAC’s argument that dentures were never a covered
service for adults with limited benefits, findingath'nothing in either the regulation or § 19 of
the Manual operates as an absolute bar to covefadgntures for adults with limited benefits.”
The Commissioner adopted, inde®dMAC’s second argument thatlats with limited benefits
are eligible for denture-related services only insafathey meet the requirements of 13 C.S.R. 8
70-35.010(3)(C) — i.e. the deme claim involves eitherauma to the patiemtr a written referral
from a physician stating that the patient lmagreexisting medical condition that would be
adversely affected in the absence of dentak. Applying thastandard, the Commissioner
found eight of petitioner's claimsvere eligible for full orpartial reimbursement and the
remaining 27 claims were not. Petitionersdila petition for review of the Commissioner’s
decision in the Circuit Court of Cole Couniissouri and that petitn is currently pending.

On May 28, 2014, Plaintiff and two others (eatively “petitioners) filed a separate

administrative complaint against MDSS, MMA@nd MO HealthNet Division, appealing the



denial of reimbursement for 23 separate denture claims submitted by petitioners. The
Commissioner noted that:

The threshold issue in this case is theéent to which dentes are a covered

service under Missouri’'s Medicaid progranwe considered this issue in Case

No. 13-2108. In that case, as in thise, Dye argues that federal Medicaid law

mandates that the State of Missouri cosetensive dental services for Medicaid

patients. Dye repeats may of the same arguments that we rejected in the previous

case. We reject them again here, for the same reasons.
James Dye, et al. v. Dep't of Soc. Servs., efNal. 14-0868 (Mo. Admin. Hrg. Comm. March
19, 2015). The Commissioner cited Plainsfargument that, under 42 C.F.R. 8§ 440.230(b),
dental services must be sufficient in amountatan, and scope in order to reasonably achieve
their purpose; however, the Comsianer rejected petitioners’gument that the regulation was
violated, noting that the regulati also states “[tlhe agenacyay place appropriate limits on a
service based on such criteaa medical necessity or on i##tion control procedures” and
Missouri provides only grescribed medically necessadgntal services.” The Commissioner
cited Plaintiff's argument thaunder 42 U.S.C. § 1396d(r)(3)(BJental services must include
the relief of pain andnfection, restoration of teeth, andaintenance of dental health; the
Commissioner rejected that argument, as weltifig the cited regulation leges to dental care
for children and is “completelynapposite.” The Commissiondastly discussed Plaintiff's
argument that the Department improperly rel@dan unpromulgated rule, i.e. the July 2012
Dental Manual in denying his claims. Themuissioner agreed that “the Department may
define the requirements for Medicaid reimbursement only by published rule” but found “the
actions of the Department and its employees.are irrelevant to our determination of the
ultimate issues in this case, which is whetherclaims at issue are properly reimbursable under

the law.” The Commissioner assessed petitioners’ claims under 13 C.S.R. § 70-35.010(3)(C) and

ultimately awarded Plaintiff partial relief inghamount of $713.25. Pldiff filed a petition for



review of the Commissioner’s decision, which iscaturrently pending in the Circuit Court of
Cole County, Missouri.
II. STANDARD

“In order to properly dismiss for lack ofilsject matter jurisdiction under Rule 12(b)(1),
the complaint must be successfully challengedits face or on the fagl truthfulness of its
averments.” Titus v. Sullivan4 F.3d 590, 593 (8th Cir. 1993). In a facial attack, the court
“restricts itself to the face of the pleadingaid “the non-moving party receives the same
protections as it would defending agaiasmotion brought under Rule 12(b)(6)Osborn v.
United States918 F.2d 724, 729 n. 6 (8th Cir. 1990). Dissal is appropriate where, accepting
the plaintiff's factual allegations as true, the ¢dinds plaintiff has faild to allege an element
necessary for subject matter jurisdictiomitus 4 F.3d at 593. In a fadl attack, “the court
considers matters outside the pleadings . d.taa non-moving party does not have the benefit
of 12(b)(6) safeguards."Osborn 918 F.2d at 729 n. 6. Dismi$ss appropriate where, upon
weighing the evidence, the court finds pt#f has failed to prove jurisdictionSeeMortensen v.
First Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'B49 F.2d 884, 891 (3d Cir. 1977).

“To survive a motion to dismiss [under 12@®), a complaint must contain sufficient
factual matter, accepted as true, to state andiairelief that is plausible on its face&shcroft v.
Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009)A complaint is facially plasible where its factual content
“allows the court to draw the reasonable infeesthat the defendant is liable for the misconduct
alleged.” Id. This is a “context-specific task thegquires the reviewingourt to draw on its
judicial experience and common senseéd. at 679. The plaintiff must plead facts that show
more than a mere speculation or posgjbthat the defendant acted unlawfullid. at 678;Bell

Atl. Corp. v. Twombly550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007). The cbaccepts the plaintiff's factual



allegations as true but is not required to do so for mere legal conclusghtspft 556 U.S. at
678, and the court reads the conmtlaas a whole rather than eaellegation in isolation.
Braden v. Wal-Mart Stores, In&88 F.3d 585, 594 (8th Cir. 2009).

[ll. DISCUSSION

Defendants move to dismiss Plaintiff's Anteed Complaint in its entirety, arguing that
each count is subject to dismissal for lackjwfsdiction, abstention, am failure to state a
claim. The Court will analyze PHaiff's claims in related groups.

A. Declaratory Judgment Claims

Plaintiff brings three gmarate counts seeking dedtory judgment that: (1) the
November 1, 2011 dental manual is the only mhmuaompliance withfederal and state law
and subsequent versions of thanual are contrary to and viaafiederal and state law; (2) the
provision of dentures to adults with limited dental benefits is permitted under the November 1,
2011 dental manual; (3) Defendants are obligatader state and federal law to reimburse
Plaintiff for denture-related sdces provided to qualifiedMedicaid recipients; and (4)
Defendants’ policies and procedureih respect to the reimbursemef denture-related claims
Plaintiff submitted to Defendants violates federal and state law.

Defendants argue the Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction to hear Plaintiff's
declaratory judgment claimebause Plaintiff has not alleged any substantive, underlying cause
of action or legal right it grants Plaintiff standing to seeletrequested relief in federal court.
Specifically, Defendants argueettbeclaratory Judgment Act,omle, does not confer standing
because it does not create anypstantive legal rights but merely provides a procedure for
enforcing existing legal rights. Defendantguwe Plaintiff cannot preed under the Medicaid

Act because Plaintiff has pointed to no “unagulmiusly conferred right” under any section of the
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Medicaid Act that allows Plaintiff to enforce psovisions. Moreover, according to Defendants,
underArmstrong v. Exceptional Child Ctr., Ind35 S. Ct. 1378 (2015), &htiff cannot employ
8 1983 or the Supremacy Clause to support histyahs a provider to challenge the State’s
compliance with the Medicaid Act. As to Plaifis Missouri Declaratoy Judgement Act claim,
Defendants argue Missouri couttgve exclusive jurisdictiomver such claims. Defendants
argue further that the Court should exercise is discretion to abstain from hearing any and all of
Plaintiff's declaratoryjudgment claims undeBurford. See generally Heartland Hosp. v.
Stangler 792 F. Supp. 670, 672 (W.D. Mo. 1992B(fford abstention is necessary when
federal review would likely bedisruptive of state efforts testablish a coherent policy with
respect to a matter of substantial public concern.”).

Plaintiff argues the factual allegations in the Amended Complaint are sufficient to meet
the standing requirements of injuin-fact, causation, and redrebgy and that “dismissal is
not warranted simply because Plaintiff has ndedisthe applicable jurisdictional statute in his
Amended Complaint.” Plaintiff argue&smstrongis “inapposite” because “the Medicaid Act is
not the basis of any of the claims containethini Plaintiff's First Amended Complaint” and
becauséArmstronginvolved a direct claim rather than§ 1983 claim. During oral arguments,
Plaintiff stated that his deckiory judgment claims are brought under the Supremacy Clause and
that the Eighth Circuit has permitted such claims, citiagkford v. Shermam51 F.3d 496 (8th
Cir. 2006). Plaintiff's post-hearg supplemental suggestions arghat federal courts clearly
have jurisdiction under their 8perintending authorityto declare whether federal law preempts
conflicting state law; thatArmstrong does not preclude federabuwrts from declaring that
sections of the Medicaid Act preempt conflictisigite laws, regulations, grocedures or from

enjoining the enforcement of preempted state law; and that the Amended Complaint pleads
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violations of sections of the Medicaid Acthet than Section 30(A) idh may create private
rights of enforcement under the Medicaid Actaiftiff's post-hearing @wggestions further raise
due process and improper rulemaking arguments for the first time.

1. Declaratory Judgment Act (Count I)

The Declaratory Judgment Act provides that,arcase of actual controversy” within its
jurisdiction, a federal court magsue declaratory relief with gard to the rights and/or legal
relations of the pdéies. 28 U.S.C. § 2201. “The Ded#wry Judgment Act [does] not extend
federal court jurisdiction beyond the recognized bouedant justiciability, but only ‘enlarge[s]
the range of remedies available Pub. Water Supply Dist. No. 10 G&ss Cnty., Mo. v. City of
Peculiar, Mo, 345 F.3d 570, 572 (8th Cir. 2003). In othards, the availability of relief under
the Declaratory Judgment Act “mgpposes the existence of a qidily remediable right.”
Schilling v. Rogers363 U.S. 666, 677, 80 S. Ct. 1288, 1284, Ed. 2d 1478 (1960). The Act
“does not authorize actions to decide whether fédéatutes have been or will be violated when
no private right of action to enforce the statutes has been created by Condoess’v. Hobhs
745 F. Supp. 2d 886, 893 (E.D. Ark. 20Hdjd sub nom. Williams v. Hobpb858 F.3d 842 (8th
Cir. 2011). Here, Defendantsgaie Plaintiff's claim broughtinder the Declaratory Judgment
Act, 42 U.S.C. 8§ 220%t seq,. fails because it is not based on any underlying cause of action or
legal right.

Plaintiff argues that he los his claims under the Suprarg Clause. As the Supreme
Court recently held, however, the Supremacy Clalogs not create a cause of action and is not
the source of any federal rightdArmstrong v. Exceptional Child Ctrinc., 135 S. Ct. 1378,
1383, 191 L. Ed. 2d 471 (2015). The Supreme Coad latld that there is no implied right of

action contained in the Supremacy Claugd. at 1384. Accordingly, the Supremacy Clause
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does not provide Plaintiff a basupon which Plaintiff can mamin his Declaratory Judgment
Act claim.

Plaintiff further argues thdte brings his claims in eqyibased upon the superintending
authority of federal courts to declare whethefei@l law preempts conflicting state law. As the
Supreme Court recently discussed, however, “[¢$oaf equity can no more disregard statutory
and constitutional guirements and provisionsah can courts of law.1d. at 1385. Thus, where
a federal statute implicitly precludes private enforcement of a statutory provision, a plaintiff
cannot invoke the court’s equitable powers to circumvent Congress’s exclusion of private
enforcement.See id. The Supreme Court held Armstrong issued earlier this year, that “the
Medicaid Act implicitly precludes private famcement of 8 30(A), and respondents cannot, by
invoking our equitable powers, circumvent Coegs’s exclusion of private enforcementd.

The Court found two aspects of Section 30(A) established Congjiatsnt to peclude private
enforcement of that section and thereby foresdosquitable relief — (1) the express provision in
42 U.S.C. 8§ 1396c¢ providing an administrativeneely for a state’s failure to comply with
Medicaid requirements, i.e. ti8ecretary’s withholding of Medi@funds; and (2) the broad and
judicially unadministrable nata of Section 30(A)’'s textld. To the extent Plaintiff brings his
Declaratory Judgment Act claims under SectiorA30then, Plaintiff’'sclaims must fail.

Plaintiff further argues that he has pleadealations of other sgions of the Medicaid
Act, besides Section 30(A), that may createvgte rights of enforcement. The Amended
Complaint, for example, cites a violation 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(43). That section, however,
pertains to health screening, diagnostics, agatiment services for persons under age 21; it does
not concern the factual allegations in Plaintiffs Amended Complaint, which relate to denture-

related coverage and reimbursement for adults kvithed benefits. The same can be said for
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Plaintiff's citations to statutorgections and regulations related“EPSDT services.” Plaintiff
argues in his supplemental suggestions that “#fiacan plead other specific violations of the
Act if necessary with which Missouri’s dental plan conflicts” including 42 U.S.C. 8§ 1396a(a)(1),
(8), (19), (34), (37), and (7nd “Plaintiff would seek leave tplead these specific facts and
claims.”

In the interests of justicéhe Court will grant Plaintiff one final opportunity to amend his
Declaratory Judgment Act claim. The Court agnegh Defendants tha®laintiff has exhibited
a tendency to expand and/or change his legal #ettroughout the course of this litigation and
the Court is hesitant to grantake where, as here, Plaintifbrtinuously attempts to morph his
claims in response to opposing counsel’'s llegguments and the Court’'s questioning. The
Court will allow Plaintiff one final opportunity tamend his Declaratory Judgment Act claim. In
granting Plaintiff leave to amenthe Court is not ruling on the mies of Plaintiff's suggested
changes and Defendants are free to file amothetion to dismiss Plaintiffs Declaratory
Judgment Act claim if theyem such action appropridte.

2. Missouri Declaratory Judgment Act (Count I1)

The Missouri Declaratory Judgment Act pae$ a procedural remedy rather than a
substantive right and federal courts have hidt it is improperto invoke the Missouri
Declaratory Judgment Act, as opposedhe Federal Declaratory Judgm Act, in federal court.
See, e.g., W. Heritage Ins. Co. v. Lax4 F. Supp. 3d 866, 875 (W.D. Mo. 20H4fjd sub nom.
W. Heritage Ins. Co. v. Asphalt Wizar@95 F.3d 832 (8th Cir. 2015)imber Point Properties
lll, LLC v. Bank of Am., N.ANo. 13-CV-03449-S-DGK, 201wL 2584825, at *5 (W.D. Mo.

June 10, 2014)City of Jefferson v. Cingular Wireless, LLRo. 04-4099-CVC-C-NKL, 2007

% The Court defers ruling on any abstention argument UBuiéord or Youngerat this time.
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WL 1965572, at *7 (W.D. Mo. July 3, 200&ff'd sub nom. City of Jefferson City, Mo. v.
Cingular Wireless, LLC531 F.3d 595 (8th Cir. 2008).

Defendants argue that Missouri courts haxelusive jurisdiction over claims brought
under the Missouri Declaratory Judgnt Act, Mo. Rev. Stat. 88 527.080 seq.and Plaintiff
submits no counter-argument. Upon review, @wrt agrees with Defendants that Plaintiff's
claims brought under the Missouri Declaratory JueighAct are not appropt&in this federal
case. Accordingly, Count Il is hereBySMISSED.

3. 42 U.S.C. § 1983 (Count IV)

Section 1983 imposes liabilitgn anyone who, under color o&st law, deprives a person
“of any rights, privileges, or immunities seed by the Constitution and laws.” 42 U.S.C. §
1983. “In order to seek redredgough 8§ 1983 . . . a plaintiff ,stiassert the violation of a
federalright, not merely a violation of federdw.” Blessing v. Freeston®20 U.S. 329, 340,
117 S. Ct. 1353, 1359, 137 L. Ed. 2d 569 (1997) (emphasis in original). To determine whether a
statutory provision gives ris® a federal right, courts look to the three-gldssingtest: “(1)
Congress intended the statutory provision to benefit the plaintiff; (2) the asserted right is not so
‘vague and amorphous’ that its enforcement wosirain judicial competence; and (3) the
provision clearly imposes a mandatory obligation upon the statemnkford v.Sherman 451
F.3d 496, 508 (8th Cir. 2006). nder the first prong, nothinghort of an “unambiguously
conferred right” will suppdra Section 1983 claimGonzaga Univ. v. Dgeb36 U.S. 273, 283,
122 S. Ct. 2268, 2275, 153 L. Ed. 2d 309 (2002). pfaantiff satisfies all three parts of the
Blessingtest, then the statutory provision isepamptively enforceable under Section 1983;
however, defendants can rebut the presumption “by showingr ditiat Congress explicitly

foreclosed a remedy under § 1983 or imglcidid so, ‘by creating a comprehensive
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enforcement scheme that is incompatible with individual enforcemehidfwest Foster Care
& Adoption Ass'n v. Kincad&12 F.3d 1190, 1195-96 (8th Cir. 2013).

Defendants argue Plaintiff's claim for dedtory relief under Seicin 1983 must fail in
light of the Supreme Court’s discussion Anmstrond and because Plaintiff, a provider, has
failed to identify any “unambiguously confedreright” allowing Plaintiff to enforce any
provision of the Medicaid Act.At oral argument, Plaintiffoluntarily abandoned his Count IV
claim for declaratory judgment under Section 198&cause Plaintiff has failed to demonstrate
that one or more federal statutes “createsinalividually enforceable right in the class of
beneficiaries to which he belongs|,]” Ri&ff cannot sustain his Section 1983 clair@ity of
Rancho Palos Verdes, Cal. v. Abrarfd4 U.S. 113, 120, 125 S. Ct. 1453, 1458, 161 L. Ed. 2d

316 (2005). Accordingly, Count IV is hereBySMISSED.

* In Armstrong the Court discussed dicta whether plaintiff, a provider, had a possible cause of action under the
Medicaid Act itself. 135 S. Ct. 1378387 (2015). The Court stated that:

Section 30(A) lacks the sort of rights-creating language needed to imply a private right of action.
It is phrased as a directive to the federal agemarged with approving state Medicaid plans, not

as a conferral of the right to sue upon the bersfes of the State's decision to participate in
Medicaid. The Act says that the “Secretarylishpprove any plan which fulfills the conditions
specified in subsection (a),” the subsection that includes 8§ 30(A). 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(b). We have
held that such language “reveals no congreskiatent to create a private right of action.” And
again, the explicitly conferred means of enfiogccompliance with § 3@) by the Secretary's
withholding funding, 8 1396c¢, suggests thiter means of enforcement are precluded][.]

Spending Clause legislation like Medicaid “is much in the nature of a contract.” The notion that
respondents have a right to sue derives, perliapg, the fact that thewre beneficiaries of the
federal-state Medicaid agreemeand that intended beneficiaries, in modern times at least, can
sue to enforce the obligations gfivate contracting parties. We doubt, to begin with, that
providers are intended beneficiai@s opposed to mere incidental beneficiaries) of the Medicaid
agreement, which was concluded for the benefthefinfirm whom the providers were to serve,
rather than for the benefit of the providers thelwes. More fundamentally, however, the modern
jurisprudence permitting intended beneficiaries to sue does not generally apply to contracts
between a private party and the government . . . much less to contracts between two governments.
Our precedents establish that a private righaaifon under federal law is not created by mere
implication, but must be “unambiguously conferred[.]” Nothing in the Medicaid Act suggests
that Congress meant to change that for the commitments made under § 30(A).

Id. at 1387-88 (internal citations omitted).
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B. Free Speech Retaliation Claims Under 42 U.S.C. § 1983

Plaintiff alleges Defendasit retaliated against Plaiffit for speaking out against
Defendants’ allegedly unlawfiMedicaid reimbursement policielaintiff alleges Defendants
retaliated against Plaintiff by instituting 100% prempant review of all of Plaintiff's claims; by
failing or refusing to file denter claims mailed in by Plaintiffby failing/refusing to timely
process Plaintiff's denture claims; by denying Rtiéiis denture claimsby auditing Plaintiff and
his former employees with little to no adeannotice; and by suspending Plaintiff's provider
number. Plaintiff seeks injunee relief barring Defendants froretaliating against Plaintiff for
exercising Plaintiff's right tochallenge Defendants’ acties and procedures, barring
Defendants from sanctioning or limiting Plaintiffs’ibtly to participate as Title XIX provider,
and barring Defendants from implementing the mmmtal manual. Plaintiff requests damages,
costs, and expenses in his individual capacity claims.

Defendants argue Plaintiff fails to stateclaim under Section 1983 because he fails to
plead sufficient facts to satisfy the First Amdment retaliation standard articulateddisborne
v. Grussing 477 F.3d 1002, 1006 (8th Cir. 2007). Defendants further argue they are entitled to
gualified immunity on Plaintif§ individual capacity claims.
1. Official Capacity (Count IlI)

To establish First Amendment retaliation un8ection 1983, a plaintiff must show that:
“(1) he engaged in a protected activity, (2) the government official took adverse action against
him that would chill a person of ordinary fimass from continuing ithe activity, and (3) the
adverse action was motivated at least in parthe exercise of thegrotected activity.” Peterson
v. Kopp 754 F.3d 594, 602 (8th Cir. 2014). In aukatory enforcement situation, the

Government has an even stronger interest in “not putting the violator ‘in a better position as a
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result of the exercise of coitstionally protectedconduct[.]” Osborne v. Grussingd77 F.3d

1002, 1006 (8th Cir. 2007). Accordingly:
[A] plaintiff who seeks relief from V& adverse regulatory action on the ground
that it was unconstitutional retaliation for First Amendment-protected speech
must make the same showing that iquieed to establish a claim of selective
prosecution — “that he has been singledfouprosecution while others similarly
situated have not been prosecuted famdict similar to that for which he was
prosecuted [and] that the governmendiscriminatory selection of him for
prosecution was based upon ... his exerofskis first amendment right to free

speech.United States v. Catletb84 F.2d 864, 866 (8th Cir.1978), citiblpited
States v. Berrigb01 F.2d 1207, 1211 (2d Cir.1974).

Here, the Court agrees with Defendants Biaintiff's First Amendment retaliation claim
as pleaded fails to state a claim upon whielef can be granted. The Amended Complaint
alleges no facts or averments that show Rfawas singled out for prosecution while others
who were similarly situated were not. The &mided Complaint further lacks sufficient factual
allegations, as opposed to mere conclusstgtements, indicatingdefendants’ allegedly
discriminatory actions were “based upon” Plgiist speech as opposed to something else, such
as a perceived rules violation§ee, e.g., Daywitt v. Minnesotido. CIV. 14-4526 MJD/LIB,
2015 WL 4094199, at *6 (D. Minn. July 6, 2015) fdissing First Amendment retaliation claim
arising from “pure enforcement” of an allelie unconstitutional policy because plaintiff failed
to plead facts indicating the adverse action wetivated, at least in part, by the protected
activity). Accordingly, Plaintiff's Count Ill fds to state a claim upon which relief can be
granted.

Within Plaintiff's supplemental suggestis, Plaintiff argues Dendants took certain
adverse regulatory actions against Plaintiff that/ttid not take againsthwr dentists. Plaintiff

states that, if the Court finds the allegations in the Amended Complaint insufficient to state a

18



claim, then Plaintiff requests leave to amétmmlmake specific allegations concerning selective
enforcement of the dental regulations against@ye as compared to other dentists who are
getting paid for denture clainvgith certificates of medical nessity completelydefective under
the standards MMAC is applying to Dr. Dye.”

2. Individual Capacity — Cindy Lenger (Caunt VII) & Jessica Dresner (Count VIII)

Defendants argue Plaintiff's individual capacity claims stidutther be dismissed under
the doctrine of qualified immunit “Qualified immunity shields government officials from
liability in their individual capacity so long asélofficial has not violad ‘clearly established
statutory or constitutionaights of which a reasonabperson would have known.'Parrish v.
Ball, 594 F.3d 993, 1001 (8th Cir. 2010). “To oveneothe defense of qualified immunity the
plaintiff must show: ‘(1) the factsjewed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, demonstrate
the deprivation of a constitutional or statutorghitt and (2) the right was clearly established at
the time of the deprivation.”ld. (quotingHoward v. Kansas City Police Dep%70 F.3d 984,
988 (8th Cir. 2009)).

At this time, Plaintiff has failed to @hd sufficient facts to overcome Defendants’
qgualified immunity. As discusdeabove, Plaintiff has failed tpresent sufficient facts to
demonstrate the deprivation of a clearly establisconstitutional or statutory right. Plaintiff
failed to plead that Plaintiff received disparagatment as compared to other similarly situated
dentists; he failed to present sufficient fattalegations to inferthat Defendants took the
alleged adverse actions based oairRiff's protected speech; and Faled to present more than
conclusory statements to show that Defertsleknew or should havienown they violated a
clearly established right by employg sanctions that Plaintiff doest dispute were within their

discretion to employ in appropt&circumstances. The Court further notes that the Amended
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Complaint lacks any factual allegations tyimgefendant Dresner to ¢halleged retaliatory
conduct. See generally Parrish v. Bab94 F.3d 993, 1001 (8th CR010) (“Becaus vicarious
liability is inapplicableto ... 8 1983 suits, a plaintiff muptead that each Government-official
defendant, through the official’s own individuadtions, has violated the Constitution.” Thus,
‘each Government official, his or her title natwstanding, is only liable for his or her own
misconduct.”). Accordingly, Plaintiff's Gunts VII and VIII fail to state a claim.

Again, Plaintiff requests leavi® file additional facts tesupport his claims. Plaintiff
seeks to add additional “unconscionable ways” in which the individual defendants allegedly
violated Plaintiff's clearly estdished rights — i.e. performing an audit and never reducing its
results to writing, intentionally mailing claim chexto the wrong addredslsifying information
in a request for sanctions, etc.

In the interests of justice, the Court willagt Plaintiff's request for leave in order to
allow Plaintiff one final opportunity to amerids Free Speech Retaliation claims brought under
42 U.S.C. 8§ 1983. In granting Plaintiff leaveaimend, the Court is not ruling on the merits of
Plaintiff's suggested changes and Defendants aeetfr file another motion to dismiss Plaintiff's
Declaratory Judgment Act claim iféls deem such action appropriate.

C. Equitable Estoppel (Count V)

Plaintiff's equitable estoppel claim allegdse Missouri Medicaid Plan represented to
Plaintiff that he would be reimbursed for dentuetated services, that the Plan induced Plaintiff
to provide denture-related services, that theeStatMissouri intended to induce Plaintiff to act
on the alleged misrepresentation, and that Ptanetied on Defendants’ rerepresentation to his

detriment.

® The Court defers ruling on any abstention argument UBuidord or Youngerat this time and Defendants are free
to re-raise their arguments based on immuifitiyey deem such action appropriate.
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Although Plaintiff is correct that equitablestoppel can sometimes be used against
governmental bodies, the general rule is that the doctrine of equitable estoppel is not applicable
to governmental bodies and a deviation is oplgrapriate in “exceptional circumstances” where
“manifest injustice would result” &m a refusal to apply the doctrindrmer v. City of Salem
861 F.2d 514, 516 (8th Cir. 1988). Moreover, Defends correct thaMissouri courts have
held equitable estoppel is a doctrirather than a cause of actenmd is generally not intended to
be used as a sworGee Dow Chem. Co. v. G.S. Robins &, Glo. 4:06-CV-739 CAS, 2006 WL
3511494, at *4 (E.D. Mo. Dec. 5, 2006) (dismissingiedple estoppel claim fdailure to state a
claim because “[tlhe general rule is that estoppel does not itself give a cause of action”);
Guzzardo v. City Grp., Inc910 S.W.2d 314, 317 (Mo. Ct. App. 199@)ffirming dismissal for
failure to state a claim finding equitable estoppak not available to create claim on behalf of
landowner seeking declaratory judgnt finding adjoining landowner obligated to maintain party
wall); Miskimen v. Kansas City Star C®84 S.W.2d 394, 400 (M Ct. App. 1984) (“An
equitable estoppel cannot arise unless justice deésni; it cannot be used as a sword to create
or work a positive gain for the claimant but canyoatt as a shield to protect him from a loss
which he could not otherwise escapeHjil v. McDonald's Corp, 709 S.W.2d 169, 171 (Mo.
Ct. App. 1986) (quotinghaffer v. Hings573 S.W.2d 420 (Mo. App. 1978) (“This doctrine is
often referred to as a shield against frauds Ihot, however, available for use as a sword. It
cannot be used to create a cause of action, #dhen did not otherwise &t. Its purpose is not
to bring about a gain but to protect from loss.”).

Plaintiff has presented no gpie circumstances in this eathat warranteviation from
the general rules. The Court finds an equéadtoppel claim inapprdpte under the facts and

arguments presented. Accorgliy, Plaintiff's Count V isDISMISSED.
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D. Prima Facie Tort (Count VI)

Plaintiff alleges Defendant Lenger engaged in a number of intentional acts towards
Plaintiff that Defendant Lenger contends were lawful, inclgddenying Plaintiff's denture
claims, imposing 100% review, and scheduling aditavith less taAn 24 hours’ notie. Plaintiff
alleges Defendant Lenger committed these acts witbxjpiess intent to injure Plaintiff or to put
Plaintiff out of business and, as a direct and proximate result of Lenger’s actions, Plaintiff was
forced to close dental offices and suffer injuoy his reputation. Plaintiff alleges there was
insufficient justification for Defendant Lengeractions. Defendants gue Plaintiff's prima
facie tort allegations fail to stateclaim upon which relief can be granted.

“The elements of a prima facie tort clainea(l) an intentional lawful act by defendant;
(2) defendant’s intent to injure the plaintiff; (B)ury to the plaintiff; and (4) an absence of or
insufficient justification for defendant’s act.Nazeri v. Missouri Valley CoJI860 S.W.2d 303,
315 (Mo. 1993). It appears Plaintiff had plea@ddidof the required elements to state a prima
facie tort case of action; howewy Defendants argue that undeshcroft v. Igbgl556 U.S. 662,
678 (2009), Plaintiff's allegations are insufficiebécause Plaintiff failed to plead facts, as
opposed to mere legal conclusions or conclusstatements, to establish that Defendants
intended to injure Plaintiff. The Court finds rite¢o Defendants’ argument and the Court will
allow Plaintiff leave to amenddTint VI in order to supplemenadtual allegations to support the
conclusory statements related te thtent alleged in Count VI.

V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons discussed above, the Court nGBBANTS IN PART AND DENIES

IN PART Defendants’ motion to dismiss (Doc. 29)he Court grants Defendants’ motion as to

Counts I, IV, and V and hereliyISMISSES Counts II, IV, and V of the Amended Complaint.
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The Court finds Counts I, lll, VI, VII, and M of the Amended Complaint are deficient as
currently pleaded but the Court willl@av Plaintiff one final opportunity tGAMEND those
counts, per Plaintiff's request,aintiff desires to do so. Plaintiff is not granted leave to amend
any other count or add any other cowathis Second Amended ComplainGee generally
Julianello v. K-V Pharm. Cp.791 F.3d 915, 922 (8th Cir. 2015) (“[P]arties should not be
allowed to amend their complaint without showing how the complaint could be amended to save
the meritless claim.”).

The Court notes that it does not addressitjubf Plaintiff's suggested amendments at
this time, as Plaintiff has not provided proposed Second Amenddfbmplaint such that
Defendant could raise a futility argument and plagties have not yet briefed any of the issues
presented by Plaintiffs suggested amendmen®laintiff shall file any Second Amended
Complaint within fourteen (14) days of the date of this ordeRldintiff fails to file a Second
Amended Complaint by that deadline, the Court will dismiss Plaintiff’'s remaining claims and
close the case withoturther notice.

IT IS SO ORDERED:
Date: November 19, 2015 /s/ Douglas Harpool

DOUGLAS HARPOOL
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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